No. 92562-3

DEC 0 8 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter

Clerk

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

AARON L. LOWE,

Petitioner,

v.

LONNIE LOWE, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF BETTY L. LOWE, DECEASED;

Respondent.

Division III No. 32192-4-III

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF COURT OF APPEALS OPINION DATED NOVEMBER 10, 2015

Robert E. Kovacevich, WSBA# 2723 818 W. Riverside Ave, Ste 525 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-2104 Attorney for Petitioner Aaron L. Lowe

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER			
II.	COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION			
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	ARGU	MENT5		
	A.	The Court of Appeals did not follow <i>In re Estate of Jones</i> , 152 Wash.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004)5		
	B.	The estate assets are being wasted 9		
	C.	The facts necessary to prove the tort of intentional interference by Lonnie preventing Aaron's inheritance was proven		
	D.	Lonnie must account to the Estate		
	E.	No gift to Lonnie was proven		
	F.	The Appellate Court committed reversible error in allowing money to be bequeathed under RCW § 11.12.260(2)17		
	G.	U.S. coins were never collected as heirlooms. U.S. coins cannot pass by written instructions		
	Н.	Lonnie cannot inherit or keep the informal written instruction property		
VI.	CONC	ELUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Allen v. Hall, 974 P.2d 199 (Oregon 1999)
Calbom v. Knudtzon, 65 Wash.2d 157, 396 P.2d 148 (1964)
Cook v. Brateng, 158 Wash.App. 777, 788, 262 P.3d 1228 (Div. 2, 2010)
Cron v. Zimmer, 296 P.3d 567, 578 (Ore. 2013)
Dean v. Lehman, 143 Wash.2d 12, 18 P.3d 523 (2001)
Estate of Aguirre ex rel. Aguirre v. Koruga, 42 Fed.Appx. 73, 76 (9th Cir. 2002)
Estate of Lennon v. Lennon, 108 Wash.App. 167, 181, 29 P.3d 1258 (Div. I, 2001)
Estate of Petter v. C.I.R., 653 F.3d 1012, 1018, fn. 6 (9th Cir. 2011) 16
Frohwein v. Haesemeyer, 264 N.W.2d 792 (Ia. 1978)
Henderson v. Tagg, 68 Wash.2d 188, 412 P.2d 112 (Wash. 1996) 16
In re Estate of Hendrix, 134 Wash.App. 1007, 2006 WL 2048240 (Div. 1, 2006)
In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wash.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004)
In re Estate of Lowe, P.3d, 2015 WL 6940143 (Div. 3, 2015) 2, 6
<i>In re Haviland</i> , 177 Wash.2d 68, 71-73, 301 P.3d 31 (2013)
<i>In re Marriage of Langham and Kolde</i> , 153 Wash.2d 553, 564, 106 P.3d 212 (2005)

In re McCoy's Estate, 189 Wash. 103, 110, 63 P.2d 522 (1937)15
In re Murphy's Estate, 193 Wash. 400, 75 P.2d 916 (1938)18
In re Slocum's Estate, 83 Wash. 158, 145 P. 204 (1915)
Matter of Aaberg's Estate, 25 Wash.App. 336, 390, 607 P.2d 1227 (Div. 2, 1980)
Matter of the Estate of Little, 106 Wash.2d 269, 288, 721 P.2d 950 (1986)
Meyers Way Development Ltd. Partnership v. University Sav. Bank, 80 Wash.App. 655, 674-75, 910 P.2d 1308 (Div. 1, 1996)
Pleas v. City of Seattle, 112 Wash.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989) 13
Raak v. Raak, 428 N.W.2d 778, 793 (Mich. 1988)14
Young v. O'Donnell, 129 Wash. 219, 224 P. 682 (1924)17
<u>Statutes</u>
31 U.S.C. § 5103
Federal Constitution
U.S. Const. Art. 1, § 8, cl. § 4
State Statutes
RCW § 11.12.260. .2, 4, 17, 18 RCW § 11.48.060. .14 RCW § 11.84.010. .2, 19 RCW § 11.84.020. .2 RCW § 74.34.020. .20

Court Rules RAP 13.4(b)(1). 1, 2 RAP 13.4(b)(4). 2, 3

Law Reviews

Diane J. Klein, Go West Disappointed Heir: Tortious Interference with Expectation of Inheritance - A Survey with Analysis of State Approaches in the Pacific States, 13 Lewis and Clark Law Review 209, Spring 2009...13

Other

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Aaron L. Lowe, Petitioner/Appellant, is the son of Donald and Betty
L. Lowe, both deceased. Aaron is the residuary beneficiary of the will of
Donald Lowe and one of three residual beneficiaries of the will of Betty
Lowe.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The review is sought on the Division III Opinion dated November 10, 2015, No. 32192-4-III. The Opinion, attached as Appendix A, is a published opinion reported at 2015 WL 6940143 (Wash.App. Div. 3, 2015).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter is in conflict with the decision of this Court in *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wash.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). In both cases, the Personal Representative commingled assets, failed to account for them and mismanaged the Estate. The *Jones* case, *supra*, was remanded. We are asking this case be remanded. The Appeal Court's opinion in this matter is in direct conflict with *Jones*, *supra*, and other Washington Supreme Court precedent. Accordingly, review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).
 - 2. The decision of the Court of Appeals denies the existence of

the tort of tortious interference with right to inherit. This is an issue of substantial public interest that has not yet been ruled on by this Court. Thus, review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- 3. The Appellate Court departed from over 100 years of law on gifts in probate matters and improperly shifted the burden on Aaron to prove that Lonnie did not receive a gift from Betty. *In re Estate of Lowe*, 2015 WL 6940143 *Id.* at *9, 10 (Div. 3, 2015). The recipient of a gift has the heavy burden of proof by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Aaron had no burden, Lonnie had the burden. Placing the burden of disproving a gift on Aaron to disprove a gift from Betty to Lonnie is in total conflict with consistent decisions of this Court. Review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 4. Another issue of substantial public interest is RCW § 11.12.260, that had never been construed by any published Washington court opinion. This statute applies to U.S. coins. This issue should be reviewed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) as separate writings are widely used in this state.
- 5. RCW § 11.84.010 and 020 are part of title 11, Probate and Trust law. It formerly only denied inheritance to a slayer. Now it includes a financial abuser. The Appellate Court decision did not mention this statute.

The probate is not final. This issue is of substantial public interest and is reviewable pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Donald and Betty Lowe had a long term marriage. RP 397, Ex.R-115, Ex. R-116. They had four children: Larry, born September 5, 1951; Aaron, born November 22, 1954; Rodonna, born September 22, 1956, died in 2002; and Lonnie born June 17, 1959. RP 50, Ex. P-31. During their marriage, Don and Betty lived in Spokane in a modest residence. Don died testate on April 16, 2003, RP 79, leaving a will (Ex. P-31) giving his residuary estate to Aaron, RP 154, 170. Ex. P-31, RP 79. A handwritten letter of Don, Ex. P-35, explaining the intention of Don was unknown to Aaron until 2013, when it was produced by Lonnie in this case. RP 146-7, 172. Betty died testate on October 1, 2011. Ex. P-19. Lonnie had custody of Don's handwritten letter, at least by August of 2003, but Betty or Lonnie failed to provide Aaron with a copy of the letter. RP 457. Don's will gave all of his property to Aaron. No disclaimer of Don's inheritance was ever prepared or executed by Aaron. RP 153, 516-7.

Don saved gold and U.S. silver coins. RP 118. Aaron gifted some U.S. silver coins and U.S. gold coins to Don. RP 138. U.S. coins were kept

all over the house. RP 138, RP 174. In 1969, Don sold his interest in his wrecking yard and netted \$50,000. RP 117. With the proceeds, he bought large amounts of U.S. silver coins, silver bars, and gold coins. RP 118-9. With the help of a family friend, Donald Poindexter, Don hid this hoard of silver and gold in a hollow fireplace foundation in the family home. RP 71-72, 209-215, 218. Poindexter counted the property as he hid it. Poindexter hid 22 pure silver bars, weighing 55 to 67 pounds each. Poindexter also hid one large bag of gold coins and 3 bags, 8 to 10 inches wide and 12 to 16 inches long, full of U.S. silver coins. Betty was never told about the hidden gold and silver because she had a pill addiction and could not be trusted to handle the family's money. RP 132. Lonnie, from 2003 through 2007, stole all the gold and silver; he never counted it and took it all to his garage safe at his home in Olympia without telling his siblings. RP 73-78, 111, 323-25. Lonnie contends that it's all his, by virtue of informal written instructions (Ex. P-42, 43) executed by Betty in an attempt to comply with RCW § 11.12.260, a statute that does not apply to "normal currency or normal legal tender." See RCW § 11.12.260(4). The writing directed Lonnie to distribute the coins in his discretion, but never named the recipients. Lonnie mistakenly believes he is entitled to keep everything he stole. RP 85.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals did not follow *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wash.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004).

The Court of Appeals' opinion in *Lowe, supra*, never mentioned the animosity between Lonnie and Aaron due to Aaron's insistence that Lonnie quit taking their parents' property. RP 173. Adding to the animosity is: Lonnie's failure to give Aaron a copy of Don's handwritten note declaring that Aaron was to receive his estate to take care of Betty (RP 146-7), failure to turn the assets over to Aaron to administer, plus hiding and taking the million dollars of gold and silver and keeping it secret for 4 to 6 years. Lonnie never made any simultaneous records of what he took from the Lowe home, RP 111, RP 72, 75-6, or any opening inventory. RP 72, RP 111. It is now impossible to reconstruct any accurate record. On top of these conflicts, is Lonnie's 2006 email about Aaron, Ex. P-27, "I won't let mom do any thing he says and I will fight him with every thing I have." The facts prove heated animosity between the personal representative and Aaron, the beneficiary, over Lonnie's removal of his parents' property. Even though Lonnie committed multiple fiduciary breaches, only one is needed. Jones, supra, at 9.

The trial court in Lowe never mentioned the incendiary attack on

Aaron, a beneficiary, who should have been handed the property for Aaron to administrator. *Jones, supra*, at 20, removed the personal representative for ill will. Aaron proved that 21 silver bars, a bag of gold and other U.S. coins were missing. Aaron established missing property by substantial evidence. The Appeals Court overlooked these facts at *6.

Lonnie commingled funds. The Court of Appeals' decision *In re Estate of Lowe*, ____ P.3d ____, 2015 WL 6940143 at *6 (Div. 3, 2015), stated that "but Jones is distinguishable from the case." Citing *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wash.2d 1, 14, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). *Jones, supra*, is not distinguishable. In contrast, *Jones, supra*, is binding precedent. One reason is that Lonnie stored U.S. coins and silver in his safe, along with his own property, with no record of items that must be counted to remain separate. See Ex. P-7, RP 68, 77-9. Gold and silver have no titles and are fungible especially when more than 35,000 U.S. coins were stored without any photographs made. RP 104. At time of trial, Lonnie only had a "majority" list. RP 261.

In *Jones, supra*, the court ordered the case to be returned for final accounting. *Id.* at 17, 22. Here, the Appellate Court affirmed the case even though the probate was not final. This alone is reversible error and yet

another reason why this matter must be remanded.

In Lowe, id. at *6, the opinion reviewed Jones, supra, and noted that in Jones, supra, the personal representative failed to disclose financial information, including estate records and information relating to estate property. Lonnie kept it a secret that he had property of Betty's, worth well over a half million dollars. RP 78-80. The Court of Appeals' opinion in Lowe forgives this flagrant disregard of the statutory and case authority. The effect is to excuse Lonnie from keeping any track since he kept some track as personal representative of what was left. The probate cannot be closed until all interested persons testify about the whereabouts of known quantities that Lonnie made into unknown quantities.

The Court of Appeals' opinion proved unaccounted funds. At *8: "Aaron has not produced sufficient evidence that the three inventory and appraisals Lonnie filed with the court were inaccurate or incomplete," which was a false conclusion. Aaron produced a disinterested witness (Poindexter) who counted 22 silver bars weighing 50-67 pounds each and 1 large bag of gold coins and 3 bags of U.S. silver coins. Lonnie admitted bags of coins and one silver bag. The bag of gold coins would be well worth over several thousand dollars as gold has sold for over \$1,800 an ounce. Lonnie had full

control of all of this gold and silver. The Court of Appeals' opinion states: "Lonnie did not inventory or account for the silver his mother directed him to remove while she was alive, nor did he keep track of what she directed him to sell or spend." *Id.* at *6. The conclusion that Betty directed Lonnie to remove the gold and silver is incorrect. The conclusion of non accounting is correct and creates a conflict of interest as Lonnie must pay for his non accounting of estate property while Betty was alive. A huge discrepancy exists. Lonnie admitted that he removed four bags of U.S. coins and sold one 50 pound silver bar. It defies common sense where two witnesses proved that 22 - 50 or more pound silver bars went into storage and Lonnie claims only removing one bar. If someone else got to the hiding place before Lonnie, who would take 21 bars, leave one bar, and all the rest of the gold and silver.

Lonnie stored his own property in his safe together with at least 35,000 U.S. coins belonging to the Lowe Estate and not Lonnie. RP 79. Lonnie never kept track of a dime, including removal of U.S. coins, for at least 4 years. This is commingling worse than the *Jones, supra*, case. This fact by itself is enough to grant Aaron's request for petition. Similarly, in *Cron v. Zimmer*, 296 P.3d 567 (Oregon 2013), one of the five children was to hold assets in trust for all of the five. The mineral rights were deeded

outright, but the child refused to create the trust. The refusal was an intentional tort. *Cron, supra,* also held that intentional exercise of dominion and control that seriously interferes with the right of another to control is sufficient to obtain a full value recovery, *id.* at 576-7. Lonnie interfered with Aaron's right to hold his mother's property and also with their mother's right to her property. Accordingly, Aaron's petition must be granted.

B. The estate assets are being wasted.

Lonnie, as personal representative, committed waste of the estate. Until an estate is closed, a personal representative has only the rights of an executor in estate property. *Jones, supra,* at 14. Lonnie sold \$226,000 of U.S. silver coins belonging to the Estate after his mother's death and he intends to keep the money. The Estate would be entitled to interest on the \$226,000 during administration. Further, an executor cannot speculate on the silver market. Silver was worth more than twice as much in 2011 as it is at this time. The remaining silver in the Estate has now devalued and should have been sold. Lonnie's actions are waste. De minimis wrongful conduct alone is sufficient for removal. In *Matter of Aaberg's Estate,* 25 Wash.App. 336, 390, 607 P.2d 1227 (Div. 2, 1980). Interest on what would have been a half million dollars easily shows waste and mismanagement, especially

when the estate beneficiaries who are to receive the property is disputed.

Other reasons exist. *Jones, supra,* also held that any other cause or reason that to the court appears necessary can be grounds. *Jones, supra,* at 10. Lonnie continues to keep Estate property with his own property. The legal error of distinguishing *Jones, supra,* requires a de novo review of the interpretation of the statutes involved. *Jones, supra,* at 9.

Jones, supra, states "Russell further breached his fiduciary duty by using the property as his own before the estate closed." Jones, supra, at 14. "An executor should keep trust funds in a bank account and not commingle them with his own money." Jones, supra, at 16. Lonnie admitted that estate cash is in the safe and that he had no records from 2004 until his mother died. Lonnie, without informing his brothers, has no record of interim sales except when he sold in 2011. RP 267. Accordingly, Lonnie, like Russell, in Jones, supra, breached his fiduciary duties as outlined above.

Lonnie also violated discovery rules by not producing Don's letter and the power of attorney until after his first deposition, also ground for removal. In *Jones, supra,* page 18, Fn. 13, questions whether refusal to provide complete information violated discovery rules. Lonnie violated discovery rules. He said he couldn't remember that he was to bring the Estate

records. RP 107-8. The Appellate Court did not reach this issue and whether this alone would provide reversal. The Appellate Court opinion limited *Jones* to only one issue, i.e. final account, and wrongfully assumed that Lonnie had filed a final account. *Lowe, supra,* at *6.

The Court of Appeals' decision was published. For it to remain as precedent, would be a blight on the supervisory power of the courts on probate matters and change over 100 years of probate law in this state. Allowing a personal representative to continue as personal representative against another beneficiary, whom he vows to fight, is certainly not "in the interest of the beneficiaries," *Jones, supra,* at 18.

C. The facts necessary to prove the tort of intentional interference by Lonnie preventing Aaron's inheritance were proven.

The Court of Appeals' opinion upheld the trial court conclusion that "independent tortious conduct." *Supra* at *11, was not committed by Lonnie, which is false. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 77B states: "One who, by fraud, duress or other tortious means intentionally prevents another from receiving from a third person an inheritance or gift that he would otherwise have received, is subject to liability to the other for loss of the inheritance or gift." Aaron proved the facts of intentional interference by Lonnie's own

admission. RP 68, 111. Lonnie faxed the first instructions to attorney Lamp and sent his mother in to change the draft to include him. Lonnie already had possession of the property in question. RP 76, RP 78, RP 479, Ex. P-42, Ex. P-43. These facts by themselves easily prove tortious interference. The proof needed is only interference or other tortious means. Conversion without any accounting is a tort. Also, the property should have been given to Aaron in accordance with Don's Wil. Lonnie wrongfully obtained control of the property that he knew should have been turned over to Aaron. He kept the whereabouts of his parents' property secret. He also kept Don's handwritten letter secret from Aaron. Lonnie took the fortune owned by his parents under his control and lied about its existence to his brothers. All of these actions more than meet the threshold of intentional interference with Aaron's inheritance.

The Oregon case of *Cron v. Zimmer*, 296 P.3d 567 (Ore. 2013), on similar facts illustrates the mother intended to give mineral rights to her five children. The Court, *id.* at 577, held that the child committed conversion as she failed to yield possession. Damages were awarded based on the difference in market value. Unjust enrichment was also proven, like this case. *Id.* at 578.

Washington defines conversion as the unjustified, willful interference with a chattel which deprives a person entitled to the property of possession. *In re Marriage of Langham and Kolde*, 153 Wash.2d 553, 564, 106 P.3d 212 (2005) (quoting from *Meyers Way Development Ltd. Partnership v. University Sav. Bank*, 80 Wash.App. 655, 674-75, 910 P.2d 1308 (Div. 1, 1996)). The *Langham*, *supra*, case also noted that when property increases in value after the conversion, like the silver and gold in this case, the recovery may be greater. *Id.* at 569. Conversion is a tort.

Diane J. Klein, Go West Disappointed Heir: Tortious Interference with Expectation of Inheritance - A Survey with Analysis of State Approaches in the Pacific States, 13 Lewis and Clark Law Review 209, Spring 2009, updates a nationwide survey. At page 228, the In re Estate of Hendrix, 134 Wash.App. 1007, 2006 WL 2048240 (Div. 1, 2006), is reviewed. The burden of proof was classified only as a preponderance of evidence. Hendrix speculates on the burden of proof necessary to sustain a judgment.

Washington had recognized the tort of wrongful interference with businesses expectancy. *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wash.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989) and *Calbom v. Knudtzon*, 65 Wash.2d 157, 162-3, 396 P.2d 148 (1964), held that to prove intentional interference, ill will, spite or coercion

need not be proven and are not essential. *Pleas, supra,* at 800.

Prospective economic advantage is a tort, not a contract. See, e.g., *Allen v. Hall*, 974 P.2d 199 (Oregon 1999). *Id.* at 202-206. The court in *Frohwein v. Haesemeyer*, 264 N.W.2d 792 (Ia. 1978) stated: "We can see no compelling reason for us to decline to extend this concept to a non-commercial context." *Id.* at 795. Accordingly, this Court must grant the petition and rule that Lonnie's actions amounted to intentional interference with Aaron's inheritance.

D. Lonnie must account to the Estate.

A duty to account over a half million dollars to the probate court transcends even a clause relieving a trustee from a duty to account. See, e.g., *Raak v. Raak*, 428 N.W.2d 778, 793 (Mich. 1988). Lonnie took estate property long before his appointment as personal representative. Lonnie is liable, pursuant to RCW § 11.48.060, a statute holding anyone alienating estate assets before a personal representative is appointed liable for the property. Lonnie kept Don's assets since 2003 and never inventoried them or told his brothers. RP 70, 79, 131, 146, 469. Beneficiaries must be informed of the property being managed and to receive an accounting. *Cook v. Brateng*, 158 Wash.App. 777, 788, 262 P.3d 1228 (Div. 2, 2010).

E. No gift to Lonnie was proven.

Lonnie admitted that he never accounted for any of his parents' assets controlled by him from 2004 on. RP 111. Lonnie was asked "Where did the cash come from that your mother gifted to you? From the sale of silver before she died." RP 97. There are no receipts, no dates, no amounts. Lonnie admitted that his mother never made a gift when he took the silver bars and bags from the fireplace. RP 259. Lonnie has the burden to prove these alleged gifts.

Lonnie testified that he was given gifts "just over periods of time." RP 95. He admitted "Q. What written evidence do you have of the gifts. A. None." RP 96, 111. Gifting is fact specific. A general statement is not enclosed. Each time a gift is made, it must be proven. *Dean v. Lehman*, 143 Wash.2d 12, 22, 18 P.3d 523 (2001). Betty could not gift the community one half of Don's share. It was Aaron's property. See *In re McCoy's Estate*, 189 Wash. 103, 110, 63 P.2d 522 (1937). Aaron testified that Betty complained that "Lonnie's got my money." RP 153. The Supreme Court consistent law in this state is that Lonnie must "bear the heavy burden at trial of proving that a gift occurred by clear, cogent and convincing evidence." *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon*, 108 Wash.App. 167, 181, 29 P.3d 1258 (Div. I, 2001). *In re*

Slocum's Estate, 83 Wash. 158, 145 P. 204 (1915), holds that possession alone is insufficient. "...a gift will not be presumed; but he who asserts title by this means must prove it by evidence which is clear, convincing, strong and satisfactory." Id. at 162. Henderson v. Tagg, 68 Wash.2d 188, 412 P.2d 112 (Wash. 1996) states: "The essential elements of a valid gift are: (1) an intention on the part of the donor to presently give; (2) a subject matter capable of passing by delivery; and (3) an actual delivery at the time." There must be an intention on the part of the donor to presently give. *Id.* at 192. Matter of the Estate of Little, 106 Wash.2d 269, 288, 721 P.2d 950 (1986); Estate of Petter v. C.I.R., 653 F.3d 1012, 1018, fn. 6 (9th Cir. 2011); and Estate of Aguirre ex rel Aguirre v. Koruga, 42 Fed.Appx. 73, 76 (9th Cir. 2002), all state the same definition. Lennon, supra, at 184, requires manual or constructive transfer "Roger gave away Elise's property while she was alive." Supra at 183. The Court of Appeals' opinion states: "Aaron provides no evidence to show that Lonnie made such a gift in violation of the power of attorney." The opinion continues and states at *10: "The trial court weighed competing evidence and found that Lonnie did not improperly accept or retain gifts under his power of attorney. Because this finding is supported by substantial evidence, we will not reverse it." The Court of Appeals, in this matter, was completely wrong on the legal issue as competing evidence would defeat the gift. It must be clear. Lonnie did not, and cannot, prove any gift.

F. The Appellate Court committed reversible error in allowing money to be bequeathed under RCW § 11.12.260(2).

U.S. Coins were stored all over the house. RP 174. Betty's will was dated September 15, 2003. Betty died on October 1, 2011. She had eight years to change her will. If Betty knew the value and extent of what was taken, she would not ask Aaron for money. Betty never knew of the hiding place or had dominion of the gold and silver. She could not count the U.S. coins. Common sense dictates that informal instructions would pass a half million or more in currency to Lonnie or other unnamed persons. See, e.g., *Young v. O'Donnell*, 129 Wash. 219, 224 P. 682 (1924). Aaron bought some coins as gifts. No prices were ever proven. RP 138. *Estate of Lowe*, 2015 WL 6940143 at *9.

G. U.S. coins were never collected as heirlooms. U.S. coins cannot pass by informal written instructions.

The Court of Appeals classified the money as "precious coins" rather than normal U.S. currency, observing that the coins are often kept as sentimental value. *Lowe, supra,* at *8. The assumption is totally contrary to

the facts in the record. Lonnie sold the silver during Betty's lifetime, but has no records. RP 94-6. Some of the sales of U.S. coins paid for home repairs. Lonnie claimed gifts of currency from the sales. The silver bought some goods and services to support Betty. Donald is cited as authority for sentimental value. *Lowe, supra,* at *9. This is incorrect. After he died, Don wanted Aaron to support his wife with the gold and silver Don purchased. Written instructions cannot pass U.S. coins used for support. Mr. Greg Devlin, counsel for Lonnie Lowe, admitted that the instructions were not witnessed like a will. RP 160. *In re Murphy's Estate,* 193 Wash. 400, 408, 75 P.2d 916 (1938), holds that a lease conveying the owner's property on death was invalid. Here, even if executed like a will, Aaron was pretermitted.

The first instructions in Betty's handwriting did not allow Lonnie to keep the property. Ex. P-42. The second typed one did. Ex. P-43. Lonnie testified that there were U.S. gold coins in the china closet. RP 285. It is impossible to assume any price to Don's lifetime purchases of U.S. coins. RCW § 11.12.260, the statute at (2) last sentence clearly states: "The term does not include mobile homes or intangible property, for example, money that is normal currency or normal legal tender, evidences or indebtedness, bank accounts or monetary deposits, documents of title or securities." The

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