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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Jones case is inapplicable here, and presents no basis for 
review. 

Aaron relies heavily on the case of In re Estate of Jones, 152 

Wn.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004), to argue a conflict with the Court of 

Appeals' decision, but in reality, Jones is inapplicable, as the Court of 

Appeals correctly identified. Jones presented a fact scenario where a 

personal representative misappropriated estate funds to himself and was 

unable to trace or account for the estate's property once commingled with 

his own assets. 

Here, unlike in Jones, Aaron has failed to meet his burden of 

proving any inability by Lonnie to account for the Estate's assets. 

Although Aaron made repeated accusations at trial, the Court of Appeals 

properly found that "he failed to establish that there was any estate 

property unaccounted for or that Lonnie breached any of his duties as 

personal representative." (App. A at p. 13)3 Substantial testimony was 

offered at the trial court to dispute Aaron's underlying claim that Lonnie 

"secreted" assets of the estate, and no basis existed for the Court of 

Appeals to overturn those findings; Jones is thus immaterial to this case. 

3 The references to the Court of Appeals decision cite the pages of the Appendix attached 
to Appellant's brief. 
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Aaron appears to rely on the use of his mother's assets at her direction 

before she died, but again, neither the facts supported by substantial 

evidence, or the Jones decision renders such use improper.4 Aaron points 

to Jones to create an illusion of conflict, but fails to point to any 

established facts that would prove error by the Court of Appeals. 

B. Washington has not recognized the tort of interference with an 
inheritance expectancy, and the creation of such a new claim 
when the facts do not support it here is not a sufficient basis 
under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Aaron has repeatedly and erroneously argued that Washington 

recognizes a cause of action for tortious interference with an inheritance 

expectancy. Aaron cites no Washington authority recognizing such a tort, 

and the creation of new law is not necessarily a matter of substantial 

public interest. 

Even if this Court were inclined to recognize the tort of 

interference with an inheritance expectancy, this would not be appropriate 

case in which to establish such a remedy. The Court of Appeals found 

that even if such a claim were available to Aaron, the elements of the tort 

would not be met in this case. The Court of Appeals looked to the general 

elements of a claim for tortious interference with a business relationship, 

4 Aaron's discussion of a violation of discovery rules was not an issue preserved nor 
addressed in the appeal below, and does not create a basis for review here. (See, 
Appellant's Brief, pp. 10-11) · 
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which requires ( 1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship or 

business expectancy; (2) defendants had knowledge of that relationship; 

(3) intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of 

the relationship or expectancy; (4) defendants interfered for an improper 

purpose or used improper means; and (5) resultant damage. (App. p. 22) 

The Court of Appeals determined that, even if a claim were available to 

Aaron, "Aaron has not proved that his brother acted with an improper 

purpose or used improper means." (App. p. 23) Aaron's claim that Lonnie 

acted improperly when he referred Betty to attorney Lamp to execute 

instructions on disposition of personal property is belied by the evidence 

of her competence to execute the document, and the independent counsel 

she obtained. (VRP 246-249, 441-443) Moreover, as properly found by 

the Court of Appeals, Aaron's reliance on a claim that Lonnie "wrongfully 

converted" assets which his father Don wanted to be distributed elsewhere 

ignores the substantial and undisputed evidence of the concluded probate 

of Dan's estate, the inheritance by Betty of those assets, and her 

appropriate use and distribution of those assets during her lifetime. (Trial 

Ex. R-118 -122, P-31, P-118; VRP 396-397,435-438,400-401,438,94-

95, 261-262, 265-267) Without proof of wrongdoing, there is no basis for 

this court to create a tortious interference with inheritance cause of action 

which will not apply to the facts here. 
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C. The Court of Appeals did not put the burden on Aaron to 
disprove a gift, but rather found that the trial court's findings 
were supported by substantial evidence. 

Aaron misreads the Court of Appeals' decision to portray an issue 

of improper burden shifting. But Aaron is looking at the wrong court and 

the wrong standard. At the trial level, the court weighed competing 

evidence and found that Lonnie did not improperly accept or retain gifts 

under his power of attorney. (App. pp. 6-7; VRP 95, 155, 245-246, 263-

264, 267) The Court of Appeals merely affirmed, finding that the trial 

court's finding was supported by substantial evidence - that is, Lonnie's 

testimony that he did not make any transfers to himself under Betty's 

power of attorney and that Betty made gifts to him. (App. pp. 19-20) The 

trial court found, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, that Aaron was 

unable to produce any direct evidence to overcome Lonnie's testimony. 

The Court of Appeals cannot reverse a finder of fact's 

determination of whether a gift occurred so long as substantial evidence 

supports the decision. See, Buckerfield's Ltd. v. B.C. Goose & Duck 

Farm Ltd., 9 Wn.App. 220, 224, 511 P.2d 1360 (1973) (whether donative 

intent exists is an evidentiary issue to be resolved by the finder of fact, 

which will not be overturned on appeal if the finding is supported by 
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substantial evidence); In re Pappuleas' Estate, 5 Wn.App. 826, 490 P .2d 

1340 (1971 ). 

There is thus no error by the Court of Appeals in analyzing the 

proper evidentiary standard of the trial court, and certainly no basis for 

review here. 

D. Appellant identifies no error with the Court of Appeals' 
application of RCW 11.12.260 to the coinage in this case. 

Aaron argues that a separate writing concerning tangible personal 

property cannot direct the disposition of coinage, since the statute 

excludes "money that is normal currency or normal legal tender." The 

Court of Appeals determined, relying on rules of statutory construction 

and Aaron's own testimony, that the coins in this case "are best classified 

as precious coins rather than normal currency for purposes of 

RCW 11.12.260. II (App. p. 18) 

The Court of Appeals made no error in applying the plain statutory 

language and rules of statutory construction to the facts in this case. Nor 

does Aaron identify a reason why this is an issue of substantial public 

importance. The Court of Appeals relied on the plain language of the 

statute, illuminated by the dictionary definition of "currency" and "legal 

tender", concluding that the coins at issue were appropriately identified by 

the trial court as being akin to precious metals, such as bullion or coins, 
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kept either for sentimental value or for investment purposes, not as a 

medium of exchange. Aaron has identified no error for appellate review. 

E. Appellant's protests regarding RCW 11.84.010 present no issue 
for appeal. 

Aaron appears to argue that the Supreme Court of Washington 

should take it upon itself to fact~find and identify Lonnie as a financial 

abuser of a vulnerable adult. Aaron is once again using this Petition for 

Review to make conclusory statements and baseless allegations to re-

litigate factual issues, without identifying any error by the courts below. 

Moreover, Aaron incorrectly claims that the Court of Appeals failed to 

address the issue; the Court of Appeals did find that the trial court 

properly exercised its discretion in denying Aaron's motion to amend to 

add the Vulnerable Adult claim. (App. pp. 9~ 1 0) Thus, the appellate court 

simply refused to consider the merits of a claim not properly raised. Id. 

Because denial of a motion to amend is reversible only upon an abuse of 

discretion, the Court of Appeals' decision was not in error and presents no 

issues for review here. See, Herron v. Tribune Pub. Co., 108 Wn.2d 162, 

169,736 P.2d 249 (1987). 

F. The Court of Appeals abused its discretion in denying Lonnie 
attorney's fees on appeal based solely upon his ability to pay. 

In the unlikely event this matter is accepted for review, the 

Supreme Court should reverse the failure to award Lonnie fees on appeal. 



Even while recognizing Lonnie fully prevailed on appeal and affirming the 

trial court's award of attorney's fees to Lonnie, two judges from the Court 

of Appeals panel determined that Lonnie's ability to pay was sufficient in 

itself to deny fees on appeal, decidin'g: 

We exercise our discretion and deny Lonnie an award of 
attorney fees. Lonnie acted within his legal rights to 
keep all the silver treasure, but this treasure ably allows 
him to afford the expense of this appeal. 

(App. p. 26, emphasis added) Judge Siddoway dissented from the 

majority solely on this issue. (App. p. 27) 

While RCW 11. 96A.l50 gives the court discretion in awarding 

attorney's fees, that discretion is not unfettered. The court's discretion can 

be overturned when "there are facts and circumstances clearly showing an 

abuse of the trial court's discretion." In re Estate of Black, 153 Wn.2d 

152, 173, 102 P.3d 796 (2004). A trial court abuses its discretion when its 

decision to award fees under TEDRA turns on a party's ability to pay. In 

re Guardianship of McKean, 136 Wn.App. 906, 920, 151 P.3d 223 (2007). 

It was a manifest abuse of discretion to deny Lonnie fees solely 

because "his treasure ably allows him to afford the expense of this 

appeal." Aaron has relentlessly pursued this litigation without any benefit 

to the Estate; a personal representative should not have to bear the weighty 

cost of litigation, even if he is able to afford it. Lonnie prevailed in all 
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respects on appeal, and substantially prevailed at trial. Aaron's lawsuit has 

done nothing to benefit the Estate. If this Court accepts review of Aaron's 

Petition, then this Court should also reverse the Court of Appeals' denial 

of Lonnie's request for fees on appeal. Review is proper under 

RAP 13 .4(b )(2) since the decision of the Division III Court of Appeals is 

in conflict with the Division II Court of Appeals' McKean decision, and 

under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) since the issue of whether other prevailing personal 

representatives could be responsible for their attorney's fees solely because 

of their ability to pay has a potentially far reaching impact. 

denied. 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Aaron's Petition for Review should be